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September 26,1996

United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Washington, D.C. 20555

Attn. Document Control Desk
j

Subject: REPLY TO NOTICE OF VIOLATION LICENSE NUMBER: 34-24887-01

This is a response to the notice received at Trionix Research Laboratory, Inc, 8037 Bavaria Rd, ;

~ Twinsburg, Oh 44087, dated August 28,1996, and recel.ed on August 30,1996. The letter referred to ;

the inspection of our facility on July 26,1996, by the NRC, anri the follow up telephone conversation |
on August 08,1996. (see attachment 1).

'

Pursuant to your request, the following contains our response and plans of action to the two (2)
violations as listed on the Notice of violation form.

Violation 1 A
Reason for Violation
The personnel listed on the nuclear license form, designated as responsible for the handling of radio-
isotopes have recently left Trionix.
Corrective Steps Taken
A new Officer was assigned to carry out the task of Nuclear Radiation Safety on August 9,1996. He
is responsible for continuation of the Radiation Safety program from this point on.
Steps taken to avoid further Violations
The corrective steps taken to prevent further violations, and to allow Trionix Research Laboratory, Inc
to remain in compliance with federal regulations are as follows.

1.) An annual calendar has been generated, containing the maintenance schedule of the
radiation safety program. The schedule includes training classes, radioisotope calibrator
calibration, survey meter calibration, sources inventory, leakage tests, quarterly reviews, and
any other such tests or training required by the NRC.

2.) A notice has been generated; this notice is posted in the hot lab and production areas,
containing a brief summary of the jobs needing to be done with regards to nuclear safety
regulations.

3.) Review all procedures in Radiation Safety Manual kept in the hot lab.

4.) There will be a quarterly review conducted by the Radiation Safety Commitee. Part of this
review would be to check that all required radiation safety tasks for the quarter have been
completed and documented.

We anticipate the implementation of the above steps will prevent the repetition of violation 1a (
the above also apply to violation ic. See ic for further information.)

1 L5g# #9609300073 960926 Yr /

/ [PDR ADOCK 03029809 --
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TRIONIX RESEARCH LABORATORY, INC.

8037 Bavaria Road Twinsburg, Ohio 44087 Telephone: 216-425-9055 * FAX: 216-425 '-9063. a *
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Subject: REPLY TO 90TICE OF VIOLATION LICENSE NUMBER: 34-24887-01

Date of full Complianeec
A quarterly review is scheduled for the week of Septe nber 23,1996. The first meeting was held today |

September 25,1996. The March 10,1987 application, item 10 (Radiation Program) is being used as a ;

guide for this quarterly review.

VIOLATION 1B
Reason for Violation
The personnel listed on the nuclear license form, designated as responsible for the handling of radio-
isotopes have recently left Trionix.
Corrective steps Taken

Two extremity monitoring finger badges were ordered from Landauer on Aug 8,1996. The badges |
were received, and placed into immediate use upon arrival on Aug 10,1996 (see attachment 2), !

Steps Taken to avoid further Violations
This corrective measure will continue to be followed to avoid further violations in this aspect of nuclear
safety. Any employee handling an isotope is required to utilize the extremity monitoring finger badges.
Date of full Compliance

The first two extremity monitoring finger badges were received at Trionix Research Laboratory on
August 10,1996 (see attachment 3) These badges will continue to be utilized, and exchanged for new
badges with Landauer on a monthly basis, per regulations.

VIOLATION 1C
Reason for Violation
The personnel listed on the nuclear license form, designated as responsible for the handling of radio-
isotopes have recently left Trionix. Because of Personnel changes this was over looked j
Corrective steps Taken

,

The Victoreen Survey Meter, Model 290, was recalibrated on July 29,1996 by Victoreen, Inc. (see |

attachment 4)
Steps Taken to avoid further Violations
The formation and distribution of the yearly calendar ( as noted in Violation ia,, Steps Taken to avoid
further Violation, section 1) will include the calibration dates for the Victoreen survey Meter. The
calibration of the meter will also be included in the quarterly review ( as noted in Violation ia, Steps
Taken to avoid further Violation section 4) to insure it is not bypassed by the nuclear radiation safety
officer.
Date of Full Compilance
The Victoreen Survey Meter, Model 290, was recalibrated on July 29,1996 (see attachment 4).

VIOLATION 2
Reason for Violation
The former employee responsible for ordering the Gadolinium source did not realize Gadolinium
requires an NRC license. He did however, obtain a state license for the usage of the source. In
addition, Isotope Products sent the Gadolinium (Gd-153) sources without verifying our possession of
an NRC license.
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Subject: REPLY TO NOTICE OF VIOLATION LICENSE NUMBER: 34-24887-01

Corrective Steps Taken
On August 16,1996, Toye L. Simmons (NRC inspector), telephoned and notified Trionix Research
Laboratory to take the Gadolinium (Gd-53) off the production floor and place these specific sources
into the isotope radiation lead vault until such time as Trionix receives an amendment allowing the use
of Gadolinium. This request was immediately complied with, and such compliance will continue until
such time as the amendment to license is granted.
Steps Taken to Avoid further Violations
With the assignment of the new Radiation Safety Officer, this violation will not occur again. The
Radiation Safety Officer will maintain control of all sources arriving at the facility. It is the responsibility
of the Radiation Safety Officer to ensure that any and all sources / isotopes utilized by Trionix are
properly licensed by both federal and state regulatory commissions. The quarterly review includes a
check of the sources and licensure to ensure compliance with all regulations.
Date of full Compliance
On August 14,1996 Trionix applied for an amendment to our NRC license control number 301728.
Trionix is not now using, nor intends to utilize, any >f the Gadolinium sources (Gd-153) until such time
as the amendment to the license by the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission is granted.
(Ref: Violation 2, part 2).

I believe that this response letter should answer ad violations completely, however, if you have any
further questions please do not hesitate to contact me via telephone at your earliest convenience. I
will be looking forward to your reply.

Sincerely

NM w
Chun Bin Lim Ph.D. I

President and CEO, I

copy to: Regional Administrator
Region 111
801 Warrenville Rd.
Lisle, IL 60532-4351

enc, (4)

1. NRC inspection and notice of violation.
2. Purchase order, Landauer, for extremity monitoring finger badges.
3. Proof of receipt of Landauer extremity monitoring finger badges.
4. Report on Victoreen Survey Meter Calibration.
5. Calendar.

|

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _ _
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ps a 8880 UNITED STATES.

fl 9)g NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

i I s'i T REGiCN lit |

5( [ 801 WAAAENv1LLE ACAo
*
g / usts. ILUNCIS 6CO2-C51

g' l.s~~gpg |s.....
, iAugust 28, 1996

1
.

f AUG 3 0 1996

Chun 8. Lim, Ph.D., President h s., iTi~~I.~ / j

|Trionix Research Laboratory
. ........- ---

8037 Bavaria Road
'

Twinsburg, OH 44087

SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION AND NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Dear Dr. Lim:

This refers to the inspection conducted on July 26,1996 at Trionix Research Laboratcry in
Twinsburg, Ohio. The purpose of the inspection was to' determine whether activities
authorized by the license were conducted safely and in accordance with NRC
requirements. At the conclusion of the inspection, the findings were discussed with
Messrs. Koval and Rappoport. This also refers to our discussion of the inspection * findings

,

by telephone on August 8,1996.

The inspection was an examination of activities conducted under your license as they )
relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Commission's rules and regulations |

and with the conditions of your license. Within these areas, the inspection consisted of
selective examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with I

personnel, independent measurements and observation of activities in progress.

Based on the results of this inspection, the NRC has determined that violations of NRC
requirements occurred. These violations are cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation I

(Notice). A written response is required. Victations No.1 and 3 are repeat items. In your
response to these violations, please describe why your proposed corrective action is
expected to be mor,e successful in preventing future or similar violations than the
corrective action specified in your April 19,1991 response. |

\

|
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's " Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, i

the enclosure, and your response.to this letter will be placed in the NRC Public Document
Room (POR). To the extent posTble, your response should not include any personal
privagy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be placed in the POR without

g redactich.
o

Sincerely,

f yzg.i b. 'N

nthia D. Pederson, Director
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety.O, nom-m nv A i '7.\"se sw am iv

License No.: 34-24887-01
Docket No.. 030-29809

.

Enclosur-: Notice of Violation

.
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' NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Trionix Research Laboratory License No. 34-24887-01
Twinsburg, Ohio Docket No. 030-29809

s

During an NRC inspection conducted on July 26,1996, violations of NRC requirements
were identified. In accordance with the " General Statement of Policy and Procedure for
NRC Enforcement Actions," NUREG-1600, the violations are listed below:

1. Condition 13 of License No. 34 24887-01 states, in part, that the licensee shall
conduct its program in accordance with statements, representations, and
procedures contained in applications dated March 10,1987 and April 25,1992 and
letters dated March 18,1987 and April 19,1991:

The referenced applications and letters require' audits of the radiation safetya.
program to be performed quarterly.

Contrary to the above, as of January 1995, audits of the radiation safety
.

program have not been performed quarterly.
|

This is a Severity Level IV viciation (Supplement VI). j
l

b. Item 3 of the referenced letter dated March 18.1987, enti,tled " Personnel ),

Monitoring," requires that each user who handles phantom preparation by |

injecting Tc.99m into it, will use an extremity monitoring device (finger .
,

badge). ! j

l

Contrary to the above, extremity monitoring devices have not been used by
persons handling phantem preparation since at least 1992. , 3

5 |
4

This is a Severity LevelIV violation (Supplement VI),

c. Item 5 of the referenced letter dated March 18,1987, entitled " Calibration"
requires that survey meters be calibrated annually.

Contrary to the abvkas of July 26,1996, the licensee's only survey
,

meter, a Victoreen Model 290, had not been calibrated since 1994 i
, ,

* k*S.
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

2. Subitems 6,7, and 8 of License No. 34-24887-01 specify the type, form and
' quantity of radioactive material that the licensee may be possess.

Contrary to the above, since November 1995, the licensee has possessed
radioactive material other than that specified by Subitems 6,7 and 8. Specifically, !

the licensee possesses two nominal 300 millicurie gadolinium 153 line sources |
which are not authorized by the license.

hp NM 3 S '34 ,,

.
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' Notice of Violation 2 |

:)
i

. This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).
s

' Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Trionix Research Laboratory, Twinsburg, Ohio ,

is hereby' required to submit a written statement or explanation to the U.S. Nuclear 3

Regulatory Commission, ATTN: Document Control Desk, Washington, D.C. 2C 555, with a j
copy to the Regional Administrator, Region lil,801 Warrenville Road, Lisle, Illin.ois 60532- '

4351 within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this Notice of Violation (Notice). I
'This reply should be clearly marked as a " Reply to a Notice of Violation" and should

' include for each violation: (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested, the basis for I

disputing the violation, (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the resu!ts
achieved,-(3) the corrective steps that will be taken to avoid further violations, and (4) the
date when full compliance will be achieved. Your resporise may reference or include
previous docketed correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the
required response. if an adequate reply is not received within the time specified in this

, Notice, an order or a Demand for Information may be issued as to why the licensi should
g

not be modified, suspended, or revoked, or why such other action as may be proper
should not be taken. Where good cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending
the response t!me.

Because your response will be placed in the NRC Public Document Room (POR), to the
extent possible, it should not include any personal privacy, proprietary,'dr safeguards !
information so that it can be placed in the PDR without redaction. However, if you find it

,

necessary to include such information, you should clearly indicate the specific information
.

that you desire not to be placed in the POR, and provide the legal basis to support your
request for withholding the information from the public.

,

1

Dated at Lisle, Illinois
this 28tday of August 1996

I
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Survey-Meter Calibration' Report / Certificate of Calibration [
~

Customer TRIONIX RESEARCH LAB. '

.:Cust PO # Victoreen # REP 42584
+

Model 290 w/ 493-50
Serial Nos. 1575 4629

CALIBRATION NOTES

PRadiation levels are based on standards whose calibrations are
traceable to the N.I.S.T. ( Formerly N.B.S. ) !

The suggested re-calibration date is only a suggestion. The
actual frequency of re-calibration may vary depending on-

Federal, state or local 'requiremen ts.
,

~

Dueing calibration the GM probe was positiened perpendicular
to the beam atis with the beta shield closed. For the check,

-(- source the beta shield was open. *

The source used for calibration was Cs-107. -

All readings below 10 mR/h were corrected for Background
Radiation.

The formula for % Error 1s:
1

( Reading - Rate ) / Rate X 100 [

IMPORTANT
t

Any corrections mad 4 to the instrument readings ( e.g. Energy
Dependence ) are up to the user to apply. Care must be used in

i
applying those factors.

|
' The test response data is on page two (2) of this report.

!

!

i
s

\ ..- . 6000 Cochran Road
Ceveland. Oh6o 44139-3395
(216)248-9300
FAX (216) 248-930t j
DATA (216) 248 9043 J

l

(1) j.,
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Victoreen, Inc.,.
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| VICTOs1E E N

Model 290 w/ 493-50
Serial Nos. 1S75 4629

CALIBRATION DATA

RATE

------------------------------------------------------------------------

Range Rata Reading ''. Error
(mR/h) (mF/h)

. --- ---------------------.---------__-------------- ---------_---_ ----

X 1000 750 EFR ERR
X 1000 250 ERR ERR
X 100 80 77.0 -3.75
X 100 24.6 24.2 -1.50
X 10.0 7.65 7.78 1.70
X 10.0 2.37 2.45 4.64
X 1.0 0.743 0.780 4.cs
X 1.0 0.230 0.240 3.00
X 0.1 0.055 0.056 2.~5

( X 0.1 0.016 0.013 1.41
Backgrcund X 0.1 N/A O.000 N/ A

Check Sourco X 10.0 N/A 2.2 N/A -

DOSE

-------------- ---- ---_-__---__-_--_-- ---_--____-___-______---______--

Range Euposure Reading % Error
(mR) (mR)

------------------------------------------------___- ---_------_--------

X 1 0.767 0.770 0.65

U5RCAL .48=

b _.

'

C a'11 b r a ted by CZ-m_ ,- 29-Jul-96,

'

Operational checkout b/ - // 29-Jul-76

Suggested re-cal due 30-Jul-97

Traceable to the N.I.S.T.
Test No. DG8953/89
Dated Feb. G. 1989

FTW Chamber Model 30-34c

( Serial No. 610
6000 Cochran Road
Cleveland. Ohio 44139 3395
(216)148 9300
FAX (216) 248 9301
DATA (216) 248-9043

_ . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _
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J U1 Instructions ,-

-
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I
'

l 2 3 4 5 6

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST

| AREA

|
~

|
7 8 9 10 11 12 13'

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST
AREA

14 15 16 17 18 19 20
SURVEY
PRODUCTION wipe TEST
AREA

21 22 23 24 25 26 27

SURVEYIINENTORY PRODUCTION WIPE TEST
AREA

OUARTERLY

28 29 30 31 s,,f"",,s s,,,"?",,,
^

I I 2 3
2 3 4 5 6 7 5 4 5 6 7 8 I to

SURVEY METER |7 N 3, N N N ''|,'NNN$$* '*
, i

CAllBRATION 23 24 25 26 27 2: 2, 2s 26 27 2s 2, 3a 3:

3a

_ _ _ _ - _ _ - - - - - _ - - _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ - - - _ _ _ _ _ - - _ __ _ _ _ _ - - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ . - _ _ - - - _ - _ _ - _ _ - _ _ _ _ - _ -
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Page 2 of 15 A 004 Hot Lab for complete - -

.

MN M JJU Instructions '-

. ._

6 81 .; M l. .

|

July September { ? }s urwrrs sutwrrs ~

I 2 3 4 5 6 3 2 3 4 5 6 7
7 8 9 I4 11 12 13 8 9 It 11 12 13 14 SURVEY

I4 15 16 17 18 19 2e 15 16 17 18 19 28 21 PRODUCTIOri WIPE TEST21 22 23 24 25 26 27 22 n 24 25 26 27 25 AREA
28 29 34 38 29 38

4 5 6 7 anoIATroN 8 9 10
SAFETY

TRAINING SURVEY
PRODUCTIOri WIPE TEST
AREA '

!

11 12 13 14 15 16 17
Rado Isotope
Cahbrator SURVEY
Cahbraton PRODUCTIOrt WIPE TESTAREA

LEAKAGE TEST
,

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 :
i

SURVEY
PRODUCTIOli
AREA WIPE TEST E

25 26 27 28 29 30 31
SURVEY
PRODUCTIOt3 WIPE TEST ;
AREA i

|
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Page 3 of 15 tiot Lab for complate- -
~

September 1996 -

- - '' " * " ' " " '

.

- - - .

1 2 O3 4 5 6 7

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST
AREA

'

8 9 10 11 12 13 14
.

l

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST '

AREA

I

15 16 17 18 19 20 21

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TFST
AREA

!

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 i

SURVEY
!PRODUCTION

AREA WIPE TEST

:

I
2(s) () August October

U s At TW TF S S St TW TF *
<

1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 L

4 5 6 7 8 9 18 6 7 8 9 10 Il 12

II II I3 14 15 16 17 !! I4 15 ' 17 18 19

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 20 21 22 '.a 24 25 26
25 26 27 28 29 M 31 27 28 7, M 31

i

a

!

- - - - - - - - . . - _ . _ . . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ __ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
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,

October 1996 ' " * " " ' " ' ~
-

-

- .

I ei .
A y gg ,

,

1 2 3 4 5
SURVEY

$[UmION WIPE TEST

_

j 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
'

! SURVEY

hE N WIPE TEST
INVENTORYj

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
SURVEY
PRODUCTION

i

'Quarterly AREA WIPE TEST
Review ,

20 21 22 23 24 25 26
.

SURVEY !

PRODUCTION !

AREA WIPE TEST

97 gg 90 On 11 September Nmember 1al mu m1 JU JL surwrrs su7wrr s I

I 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2SURVEY ls 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 4 5 6 7 s 9
PRODUCTION 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 to 11 12 13 14 15 16
AREA 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 |

29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30

.

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _ _ _ _ . _ _
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.
Attachment 5 * '*' ' '" "" l i" '

Page 5 of 15 gof Lab for conplete
Instructions

'

A, ovember 1996
.

.
-

-

t

'

!

l . u! l.
-

October December } ?s st 7 wry s ssarwrrs =
<

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
6 7 8 9 10 11 12 8 9 le 11 12 13 14

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 15 16 17 18 19 20 21
2e 21 22 23 24 25 26 22 23 24 25 26 27 2: WIPE TEST
27 28 29 30 31 29 3e 31

1

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 |
SURVEY
PRODUCTION
AREA WIPE TEST

|

10 11 12 13 14 15 16
i

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST -

AREA
;

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 '

SURVEY
PRODUCTION gypg 7gg7 .

AREA I
r

24 25 26 27 28 29 30
SURVEY |
PRODUCTION WIPE TESTSEA

.-___ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ . ____-
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' " " " ' * " * ~
-December 1996 ..

un Mon Tue 3 Wed
4 ..

Thb y" - Fri Sn

- - n - -. ; . .. -

.

,

. .

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST
AREA

e

8 9 10 11 12 13 14

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST
AREA

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 -

SURVEY i

PRODUCTION
AREA WIPE TEST

22 23 24 25 26 27 28
SURVEY
PRODUCTION !

AREA HIPE TEST
,

9g g y November January
M SM TW TF S SM TW T F S

I 2 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 5 6 7 8 9 le 11

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 . 17. 13 14 15 16 17 18

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 s9 20 21 22 23 24 25.

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 26 27 28 29 30 31

.
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i Refer to manual inAttachment 5 .'

- Page 7 of 15 Hot Lab for compbte
Instructions

'

Ianuary 1997 - -
-

.

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
.

.

:
December : February { ') 3 4 :

su7wrrs su7wrrs =

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

8 9 10 Il 11 13 14 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 SURVEY i

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 9 le II 12 13 14 15 PRODUCTION PE TEST22 23 24 25 26 27 2s 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 AREA
29 3a 3: 23 24 25 26 27 2: INVENTORY i

,

~

5 6 7 8 9 10 11
SURVEY {
PRODUCTION [

AREA WIPE TEST !ouanery
Revew ,

,!

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 i

SURVEY
|enerate PRODUCTION WIPE TEST

,

Calendar 1

5

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 i
!

SURVEY WIPE TEST |
PRODUCTION j
AREA [

26 27 28 29 30 31

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST |

AREA [

!
.

(

f

_ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ - - _ _ _ - _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ . .__ -.-_____-_. _ -_ - -
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February 1997 ' " ' " " * " ' - -
-

e ,- .

,.
_ -.

1 1 8
. A is. Th .| .

l

January March
Js u7 wry s su7wrrs

1 2 3 4 i
5 6 7 8 9 le il 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

12 13le15161718 9 18 11 12 13 14 15
19 23 21 42 23 24 25 16 17 18 19 20 Il 22

| 26 27 28 29 30 31 23 24 25 26 27 28 29
l M 31

2 3 4 5 6 7 8;

LEAKAGE TEST Survey WIPE TEST
Production

| Area

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area

23 24 25 26 27 28

HIPE TEST
P u tion
Area

- . - .__ - _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _._
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Attachment 5 Refer to manual in .

- Page 9 of 15 Hot Lab for complete
,

' " " " ' * " 'March 1997
~ -

-

- 11 . n .

|72 3 4 5 6 8 i

Survey
Production WIPE TEST
Area

9 10 11 12 13 14 15
Survey

. NIPE TEST
Production
Area i

16 17 18 19 20 21 22
'!IPE TESTPro u tion

Area

23 24 25 26 27 28 29
Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area

February April}0 }} , sserwrrs s st rwrrs ,

1 I 2 3 4 5 t

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 le II 12
9 le Il 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 ,

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 28 21 22 23 24 25 26 '

23 24 25 26 27 28 27 28 29 30

t

t
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! Refer to manual in
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Hot Lab for complete
i

' Page 10 of 15 ins:iuctions -

! April 1997 ~

-

i - , - - - - - - - .

|

1 2 3 4 5

Survey
. WIPE TEST

' Production
IIIVEtITORY Area

6 7 8 9 10 11 12

QUARTERLY
Survey WIPE TEST,

, REVIEW
Production
Area

13 14 15 16 17 18 19

Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area

20 21 22 23 24 25 26i

Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area

27 28 29 30 , ,, 'Pfr , , ^'7 r ,s ., ,

I I 2 3
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 4 5 6 7 8 9 le
9 IS 11 12 13 14 15 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 18 19 20 21 22 23 24
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 25 26 27 28 D D 31

30 31

- _ - _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - . _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ . -
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T) age 11 of 15 Hot Lab for complete ,

' " ' ' ' " * " 'May 1997 .- i
-

- - _ _ _ _ . .

1
.

.

April June 1 g 3
JL ==s urwrrs surwrrs

l 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
6 7 8 9 le Il 12 8 9leII121314

13 I4 15 16 17 18 19 15 16 17 18 19 24 21 Survey WIPE TEST2e 21 22 23 24 25 26 22 23 24 2s 26 27 2:
27 1s 2, 3e 2, 3e Production ,

Area

4 5 6 7 8 9 10
,

Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area

'
1 1 12 13 14 15 16 17

|
'Survey WIPE TEST

Production
Area

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 !
i

,

,

Survey WIPE TEST
Production
Area |

25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Survey WIPE TEST .

Production !

| Area

|

!

- - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ - - _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ .
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Attachment 5 Refw to manual in r

Hot Lab for complete '
,

Pege 12 of 15 Instructions
-

-

June 1997 - -

.

_.

1 |2 |3 |4 |5 6 7
SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST
AREA

8 9 10 11 |12 13 14 !
!

SURVEY
PRODUCTION gypg 7gg7
AREA

,

'

15 16 17 18 19 20 21,

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST .

AREA

22 23 24 25 26 27 28:

SURVEY i

SURVEY METER PRODUCTION wipe TEST j
CAllBRATION AREA

,

s

'
m9 30 ""' 3"''7

t 5 54 T IV TF S SM T SV TF S 4
'

I 2 3 1 2 3 4 5
. 4 5 6 7 8 9 IS 6 7 8 9 le il 12 |'

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 131415I6171819
18 19 20 Il 22 23 24 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
25 26 27 28 29 30 31 27 28 29 30 33

|
!

!

!
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ - - _ - - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ - - - - _ _ - _ - - - _ _ _ - - - - - _ _ _ - - _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ . - _ _ _ _ _ -
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Attachment 5 Refer to manual in ..

- Page 13 of 15 Hot Lab for complete ,

Instructions

Ju1y 1997
. .

.

.

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 -

SURVEY

I
Quarterly IPRODUCTION wipe TESTg
Revew

:

I

13 14 15 16 17 18 19
Radio isotope t

Cahbrator SURVEY
Cahbraten PRODUCTION WIPE TEST

AREA
LEAKAGE TEST

20 21 22 23 24 25 26
i

SURVEY
PRODUCTION WIPE TEST

'AREA

!

27 28 29 30 31 s,,!""?,.s s ,, r r, , |
^"

s
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 .

Radiation SL71VEY s 9 to 11 12 13 14 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
Safety PRODUCTION 15 16 17 is 19 20 21 to 11 12 13 14 15 16
Trauling AREA 22 23 24 25 26 27 2s 17 is 19 20 21 22 23

29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30
31

g

!
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ - _ - _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ - _ _ _ _ - _ _ - . _ _ ____-___ - ___ -- . _ - - _ _ - _ _ _ _ _ _ - - __
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| . .Page 14 of 15 Hot Lab for complete .

Instructions

| August 1997
- --

,

|
-

.. _ . .. . .. .- . _ _.- - ,_ . . , , . . . . . . . - . -. .

'un Mon THe : Wed Thu..--.i -. . .
Fri Su

'

;

.. . . ..

1 2,

WIPE TEST

| l

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
| SURVEY

PRODUCTIOri WIPE TEST
AREA

| 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
SURVEY WIPE TEST
PRODUCTION
AREA

',

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 :
WIPE TESTP DUCTIO!!

AREA !
.

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 !
SURVEY i

PRODUCTIO! WIPE TEST
AREA

,

July Septemixc
31 s~'"''s s"'"'' s

i2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6

6 7 8 910 Il 12 7 8 9 le 11 12 13

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 25 22 23 24 25 26 27
27 25 29 30 31 28 29 30

.
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Attachment 5 -.

'
-

Pqge 15 of 15
,

.

September 1997 -

;
.

- - - - ;

'

; ;

1 2 3 4 5 6
SURVEY ;

PRODUCTION
^ *^ Wip' Test I

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 ;

SURVEY
i

PRODUCTION
AREA

Wipe Test -

r

14 15 16 17 18 19 20

SURVEY
PRODUCTION
AREA Wipe Test

21 22 23 24 25 26 27

SURVEY ,

PRODUCTION
AREA Wipe Test

1

gQ g() () August Octotwrmu MJ U ,

S At TW TF 5 SM TW TF S l

1 2 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

le il II 13141516 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 19 20 Il 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 D 26 27 28 M M 31
31

<
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